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           REASONS FOR JUDGMENT AND JUDGMENT 

 

[1] This is the judicial review of a decision of the Appeals Division, Recourse Directorate, 

Canada Border Services Agency, as delegate of the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency 

Preparedness (the Minister), determining that currency seized under the Proceeds of Crime (Money 

Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act, SC 2000, c 17 (the Act) shall be held as forfeit.  This 

judicial review is brought pursuant to section 18.1 of the Federal Courts Act, RSC 1985, c F-7. 
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Background 

[2] Kangaratnam Satheesan (the Applicant) was born in Sri Lanka and is a citizen of Germany.  

On August 12, 2010 he arrived in Canada on a flight from Germany and failed to report that he was 

in possession of currency having a value exceeding CAN$10,000, the declaration of which is 

required by subsection 12(1) of the Act and subsection 2(1) of the Cross-border Currency and 

Monetary Instruments Reporting Regulations SOR/2002-412.  When examined by a Canada Border 

Services Agency officer (CBSA officer) it was determined that he was importing EUR15,530 and 

USD$24 (valued at CAN$21,754.53). 

 

[3] The undeclared currency was seized by the CBSA officer in accordance with 

subsection 18(1) of the Act.  It was held with no terms of release, pursuant to subsection 18(2) of 

the Act, as the CBSA officer had formed the opinion that there were reasonable grounds to suspect 

that the undeclared currency was or may be the proceeds of crime. 

 

[4] On August 18, 2010 the Applicant, in accordance with section 25 of the Act, requested a 

decision of the Minister as to whether subsection 12(1) of the Act had been contravened.  This was 

done by way of a Notice of Objection which attached, but did not make reference to, what appeared 

to be a February 1, 2010 contract of sale of a business by the Applicant to a named buyer for a 

purchase price of  EUR10,000, and a bank withdrawal slip dated August 11, 2010 in the amount of 

EUR2000, both written in German.  In that correspondence the Applicant stated, amongst other 

things, that his limited knowledge of English had prevented him from understanding the declaration 

form and understanding what amount of money he could import without declaring it. 
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[5] On October 29, 2010 an adjudicator of the Appeals Division, Recourse Directorate, CBSA, 

wrote to the Applicant acknowledging his request for a decision of the Minister as to whether 

subsection 12(1) of the Act had been contravened, setting out in detail the grounds for the seizure of 

the undeclared currency and attaching a copy of the Narrative Report prepared by the CBSA officer 

who had examined the Applicant at his port of entry into Canada.  The Applicant was advised to 

provide further documentary evidence to link all of the seized funds to the earnings from the pizza 

shop and that, in the absence of such sufficient evidence, the reasons to suspect the currency is the 

proceeds of crime would remain. 

 

[6] The Applicant provided a lengthy response which was received by CBSA on 

November 22, 2010.  This stated that the purchaser of the Applicant’s pizza shop had paid the 

EUR10,000 purchase price in EUR500 bills which the Applicant kept in his apartment.  It also 

enclosed translated English excerpts of the purchase agreement as well as the Applicant’s turnover 

tax calculation for 2008 and addressed the other matters raised in the prior CBSA correspondence.  

The letter also stated that the Applicant had requested an interpreter when being examined by the 

CBSA officer at the port of entry but that his request had been denied.  The result of this denial 

being that his understanding of the questions put to him by the officer was unclear, his explanations 

accordingly confused and that the CBSA officer had interpreted them incorrectly as contradictory.  

The Applicant sent a follow up letter on January 17, 2011. 

 

[7] By letter of March 30, 2011 the adjudicator requested a copy of the entire untranslated 

purchase agreement for the pizza shop and went on to state that upon initial review of the 

documentation that had then been submitted by the Applicant that it did not appear to provide a 
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complete paper trail linking the seized funds to the proceeds of the sale of the pizza shop and that no 

documentation had been provided to show the source of the seized funds which exceeded the 

EUR10,000 purchase price.  The adjudicator advised that to dispel the reasons to suspect that the 

seized currency is the proceeds of crime that “sufficient documentary evidence must be provided to 

link the entire amount of the seized funds to a legitimate source”.  The letter also stated that 

language did not appear to be a contributing factor in the Applicant’s failure to declare the seized 

currency or to answer the CBSA officer’s questions concerning the currency.  The Applicant was 

asked to provide further documentary evidence to link the EUR10,000 of the seized funds to the 

sale of the pizza shop, to show that the remaining seized funds were withdrawn from the claimant’s 

savings account and the source of the funds in that account. 

 

[8] On May 4, 2011 the Applicant provided the pizza shop purchase agreement and the 

withdrawal receipt noting that both had previously been submitted.  He stated that the information 

he had previously provided should serve to establish that he had worked hard and saved his money.  

As to the portion of the seized funds not addressed by the withdrawal receipt and the sale of the 

pizza shop, he stated that this came from smaller previous withdrawals from the bank and money 

kept on site at the pizza shop. 

 

[9] By letter of June 10, 2011 the adjudicator accepted that the Applicant appeared to have sold 

his pizza shop for EUR10,000 on February 1, 2010, the bank withdrawal for EUR2000 on 

August 11, 2010, and, that his tax documents showed his income in 2008 but stated that there was 

“still insufficient documentary evidence to link the seized funds to the sale of the business and the 

claimant’s earnings”.  Further, as no records of his living expenses had been provided it could not 
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be determined how much of the business sale proceeds and his other earnings remained once those 

living expense were taken into account.  The Applicant was again asked to provide a complete 

paper trail to link the seized funds to the sale of the pizza shop and his earnings. 

 

[10] The Applicant responded by letter of July 12, 2011 providing a letter from the purchaser of 

the pizza shop confirming that he had paid the purchase price of EUR10,000 by way of twenty bills 

of EUR500 each. 

 

[11] By letter of July 26, 2011 the adjudicator acknowledged the Applicant’s letter of 

July 12, 2011 but stated that it appeared that there was still insufficient evidence to link the seized 

funds to the sale of the pizza shop and the Applicant’s earnings. 

 

[12] More specifically, the funds received from the sale of the shop were less than the amount 

seized and there was no documentation linking the seized funds to that source.  Further, based on 

the other documents submitted, the amount claimed as earned in 2008 would have been received 

two years before the seizure and it could not be confirmed that any of the seized funds came from 

those earnings.  The documents pertaining to the business assessment for 2008 and 2009 did not 

appear to provide evidence relating to the origin of the seized funds and the bank withdrawal slip 

showed an amount that was less than the amount seized and did not provide any information as to 

the original source of those funds.  In addition, the Applicant’s living expenses were not accounted 

for in connection with the proceeds realized from the sale of the pizza shop and his earnings. 
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[13] On October 21, 2011 the adjudicator prepared a Case Synopsis and Reasons for Decision.  

This set out the evidence and submissions and recommended that the Minister find, pursuant to 

subsection 27(1) of the Act, that the Applicant had contravened subsection 12(1) of the Act by 

failing to report the imported currency and that the seized funds be held a forfeit pursuant to 

subsection 29(1)(c). 

 

[14] The Manager, Appeals Directorate, Recourse Director, CBSA, as the Minister’s delegate 

(Manager), accepted the recommendations.  By letter of December 7, 2011 she informed the 

Applicant of the Minister’s decision (the Decision).  By way of this judicial review the Applicant 

seeks an order setting aside the Decision and returning the matter for redetermination. 

 

The Decision under Review 

[15] The Decision states that pursuant to subsection 27 of the Act, the Manager, as delegate for 

the Minister, has decided that there has been a contravention of the Act with respect to the currency 

seized (subsection 12(1)) and that under the provisions of section 29 of the Act, the seized currency 

shall be held as forfeit. 

 

[16] The reasons stated in the Decision recite the CBSA officer’s initial grounds for seizing the 

currency and suspecting that it was the proceeds of crime as originally recorded the Narrative 

Report.  These included that: 

• The Applicant and his sister both left Sri Lanka as refugees at 
a time when Tamil Tigers were also fleeing Sri Lanka; 

 
• The Applicant had travelled from Germany to Canada after 

travelling to Sri Lanka a month earlier; 
 



Page: 

 

7 

• He could not explain how he could afford tickets to visit both 
Sri Lanka and Canada; 

 
• He gave conflicting stories regarding the purpose of his trip 

and provided limited details about his visit; 
 
• He gave conflicting stories regarding the person meeting him 

at the airport; 
 

• He was evasive and nervous when asked about the Tamil 
Tigers; 

 

• The seized currency was not wrapped and the notes were not 
all facing the same way, indicating it was not obtained from a 

bank; 
 
• The currency had not been reported to German customs; 

 
• There were discrepancies in his story regarding travel, 

employment and the source of the funds; 
 
• He had difficulty explaining how the currency came into his 

possession and had no documents proving its origin; 
 

• His business practice of dealing in cash and using multiple 
banks suggests an attempt to avoid the banks’ reporting 
requirements; 

 
• He gave contradictory statements concerning the reason he 

was going to give his sister the money; 
 
• He could not provide information about his personal 

finances; and 
 

• He was not aware of the amount of currency in his possession 
and did not express concern about its seizure. 

 

[17] The reasons then describe the Applicant’s submissions in requesting the appeal and 

responds to each in turn.  With respect to his assertion that he did not understand English well 

enough to understand the declaration form requirements, the Manager states that the CBSA officer 

had specifically stated in her report that there was no language problem.  The CBSA officer had 
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asked if the Applicant fully understood everything on the declaration card and that the Applicant 

stated that he did and that he knew how to properly declare.  Further, the Manager indicated that if 

the Applicant did not understand the questions on the declaration card or the questions being asked 

by the CBSA officer, then it was incumbent upon him to bring that to the CBSA officer’s attention, 

at the time, so that any necessary assistance could have been provided.  The Manager concluded that 

language was not a contributing factor in the Applicant’s failure to report the currency in his 

possession. 

 

[18] As to the seized funds, while the Applicant submitted that the seized funds came from the 

sale of his pizza shop and other business earnings, the Manager was not satisfied that the evidence 

the Applicant had submitted established the legitimate origins of the currency.  The sales agreement 

indicated the pizza shop sold for EUR10,000 on February 1, 2010.  However, those funds were less 

than the amount seized even when combined with the EUR2,000 personal withdrawal confirmed by 

receipt.  There was no documentary evidence linking the proceeds from the sale to the seized funds. 

 

[19] The Applicant’s business tax return for 2008 showed that his business generated 

EUR200,171 in revenue.  The Manager pointed out that these earnings were received two years 

prior to the date of seizure and there was no documentary evidence linking the proceeds of the 

business to the seized funds.  The withdrawal receipt for EUR2000 similarly did not provide any 

information regarding the original source of those withdrawn funds.  Further, no documentation had 

been provided to demonstrate the Applicant’s current living expenses.  As a result, the Manager was 

unable to determine how much of the seized funds came from the suggested legitimate origin after 
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the Applicant’s living expenses had been taken into consideration.  Given this, the Minister declined 

to exercise his discretion to release the funds from forfeiture. 

 

Issues 

[20] The Applicant submits that there was a failure of natural justice as an interpreter was not 

provided to the Applicant when one was requested at the port of entry, and, that the Minister failed 

to reasonably exercise his section 29 discretion with respect to forfeiture. 

 

[21] I would rephrase the issues as follows: 

a. What is the appropriate standard of review? 

b. Was there a breach of procedural fairness? 

c. Did the Minister’s delegate err in determining the funds as forfeit? 

 

Positions of the Parties 

The Applicant 

[22] The Applicant submits that he speaks English with difficulty and that he requested a 

German interpreter several times when he was being interviewed by the CBSA officer at the port of 

entry.  Because he was not provided with an interpreter when he requested one and because his 

command of English was insufficient to effectively communicate answers to questions put to him 

by the CBSA officer and because negative inferences were drawn from the alleged inconsistencies 

in the Applicant’s answers, there was a breach of procedural fairness amounting to a reviewable 

error. 
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[23] The Applicant further argues the Minster’s discretion pursuant to section 29 of the Act was 

not exercised reasonably.  In Sellathurai v Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency 

Preparedness), 2008 FCA 255, [2008] FCJ No 1267, the only evidence before the Minister was 

unverifiable affidavits.  In contrast, in this case the Applicant provided verifiable documents 

including the sale agreement for the pizza shop for EUR10,000; a bank receipt showing a 

withdrawal of EUR2,000; and, a business tax return showing business revenue of EUR200,171. 

 

[24] To the Applicant, the Minister was asking for the impossible by insisting on documentary 

evidence linking the proceeds from the sale of the pizza shop to the seized funds and was therefore 

unreasonable.  It was a cash sale, there is no direct documentary evidence and the Applicant 

provided reasonably sufficient corroborating documents. 

 

[25] The Applicant points out that only EUR3,530 is not accounted for after the pizza shop sale 

agreement and bank withdrawal are considered, a mere 2.5% of the Applicant’s 2008 business 

revenues. Further, it is reasonable to assume the EUR2,000 personal withdrawal and the 

undocumented EUR3,530 came from his business proceeds.  Given the submitted documentation, 

the Applicant submits that it was not reasonable for the Minister to conclude that he has not been 

satisfied that the seized funds are not proceeds of crime. 

 

[26] The Applicant also argues that the Decision is undermined by innuendo linking the 

Applicant to the Tamil Tigers with no evidence to substantiate the allegation.  The Minister’s 

observations and conclusions linking the Applicant to the Tamil Tigers are unreasonable. 
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The Respondent 

[27] The Respondent emphasizes there is no issue here of whether there was a failure to declare 

the currency and resultant breach of section 12 of the Act.  Any contestation of that finding must be 

by way of an appeal under section 27 of the Act.  This judicial review is only concerned with the 

Minister’s decision under section 29 to keep the currency as forfeit. 

 

[28] The Respondent submits there was no request for or need of an interpreter by the Applicant 

when he was being interviewed by the CBSA officer at the port of entry.  The record establishes that 

the Applicant told the CBSA officer that he understood the declaration and that he had signed the 

card himself, and, in his subsequent submissions he did not deny making those statements.  The 

officer’s notes state that the Applicant “had good command of the English language and had no 

difficulty understanding the questions”.  This is confirmed by the Narrative Report which is 

indicative of a lengthy conversation with the Applicant who was able to express himself clearly and 

in detail in response to the questions asked of him. 

 

[29] The Respondent points out that in his initial communication to the CBSA, dated 

August 18, 2010, the Applicant states that he had a limited understanding of English but makes no 

mention of a refusal to provide translation.  This allegation arose only after the Respondent 

indicated in correspondence of October 29, 2010 that the Applicant understood the questions put to 

him and should have requested assistance if it was needed.  Even if an interpreter had been 

provided, it would not have changed the outcome of the examination given the Applicant’s 

itinerary, social background, false declaration and behaviour. 
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[30] The Respondent denies that there was an association inferred between the Applicant and the 

Tamil Tigers.  The Respondent submits that the record shows that the Applicant denied an 

association personally with the Tamil Tigers and was questioned as to whether his family 

sympathised with them even if he did not.  His reaction to this topic would have been the same with 

a translator. 

 

[31] The Respondent submits that the Decision was reasonable because the three submitted 

documents did not establish a legitimate source of the seized funds.  Funds from the sale of the 

business a year earlier are not linked by virtue of the sale contract alone to the seized currency.  

No document linked any income earned in 2008 to the seized currency.  The withdrawal receipt was 

for an amount that was less than the difference between the amount seized and the pizza shop sale 

proceeds and there was no document to confirm the legitimate origin of the withdrawn funds.  The 

onus is on the Applicant to persuade the Minister that the funds are not the proceeds of crime 

(Sellathurai, above; Lau v Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 

2012 FC 788, [2012] FCJ No 813) which the Applicant could have done by providing documents 

normally credible or authoritative enough to connect currency to a legitimate source, such as bank 

account balances, export declarations from German customs, or wrappers from the bank but 

declined to do.  Therefore, the Minister’s Decision was reasonable. 

 



Page: 

 

13 

Standard of Review 

[32] Where previous jurisprudence has determined the standard of review applicable to a 

particular issue before the court, the reviewing court may adopt that standard (see Dunsmuir v New 

Brunswick, 2008 SCC 9, [2008] 1 SCR 190 at paragraph 57). 

 

[33] In Sellathurai, above, the Court of Appeal indicated the standard of review of the Minister’s 

decisions is reasonableness (at paragraph 25).  This approach was followed by this Court in Lau, 

above at paragraph 29. 

 

[34] In reviewing a Minister’s decision on the standard of reasonableness, the Court should not 

intervene unless the decision is not transparent, justifiable, and intelligible and within the range of 

acceptable outcomes based on the evidence before it (see Dunsmuir, above, at paragraph 4).  It is 

not up to a reviewing court to substitute its own view of a preferable outcome, nor is it the function 

of the reviewing court to reweigh the evidence (Canada (Citizenship and Immigration) v Khosa, 

2009 SCC 12, [2009] 1 SCR 339, at paragraph 59). 

 

[35] It is well-established that on the content of procedural fairness, no deference is owed to a 

tribunal (Khosa, above, at paragraph 43). 

 

Was there a breach of procedural fairness? 

[36] While no deference is owed to tribunals on the content of the duty of fairness, the procedural 

fairness claim in this case turns on a factual dispute: whether or not the Applicant requested an 

interpreter.  The Respondent denies that a request for an interpreter was made.  It does not appear to 
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dispute that if the Applicant did in fact request an interpreter and was denied one, then the duty of 

fairness would have been violated.  This Court is therefore not called upon to determine the content 

of the duty of fairness. 

 

[37] Since the dispute is a purely a factual matter, this Court owes deference to the decision-

maker entrusted by Parliament to that task, in this case the CBSA Manager as the Minister’s 

delegate (Khosa, above, at paragraph 46).  Simply because the factual finding is relevant to a 

procedural fairness dispute does not mean that the Court becomes a finder of fact where a reviewing 

a tribunal that has already considered the issue. 

 

[38] Here the Manager concluded that language was not a contributing factor in the failure to 

report the currency i.e. the contravention of subsection 12(1), which contravention she then 

determines, pursuant to section 27, has occurred.  The Manager stated in her reasons that if the 

Applicant did not understand the questions asked on the declaration card or by the CBSA officer at 

the port of entry then it was incumbent upon him to have brought this to the CBSA officer’s 

attention, at that time, so that any necessary assistance could be provided.  The Manager’s implicit 

finding of fact is, therefore, that the Applicant did not request an interpreter. 

 

[39] In reaching these conclusions the Manager relied on the Narrative Report of the CBSA 

officer.  This is a detailed seven page report made on the day that the Applicant entered Canada.  

This states, in part: 

Upon his arrival at my counter, SATHEESAN was asked if the bag 
and belongings he was travelling with were his, if he packed them 

himself, and if he knew the contents of the bags. SATHEESAN 
answered yes to all three individual questions. SATHEESAN was 
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asked if there was anything sharp or dangerous in the bag, to which 
he replied that there was not.  SATHEESAN was asked if his bag left 

Germany with him, SATHEESAN replied yes, SATHEESAN was 
asked if the E311 card in my hand was his declaration card, he 

replied yes.  He was asked if he fully understood everything on that 
card.  SATHEESAN replied that he had, and knew how to declare 
properly.  An explanation of the examination process was given to 

SATHEESAN.  SATHEESAN did not have any questions. 
 

SATHEESAN had good command of the English language, and had 
no difficulty listening, understanding and answering questions in 
English. 

 

[40] The Narrative Report then proceeds, for the next six pages, to describe the verbal 

examination of the Applicant that followed and the Applicant’s responses to the many questions put 

to him. 

 

[41] The Applicant submits that he requested both water and an interpreter.  The Narrative 

Report confirms that the Applicant did ask for a glass of water.  The CBSA Officer recorded that 

she told him that she would get it for him but that it was important that he answer her questions.  

She then asked her question again.  There is no indication as to whether or not she provided the 

requested water.  The Narrative Report makes no reference to a request for an interpreter. 

 

[42] In his August 18, 2010 Notice of Objection the Applicant stated that he did not know 

English well enough to allow him to understand the declaration form clearly and that he was unsure 

of the amount of money he was permitted to import without declaring it.  In his letter of 

November 22, 2010 the Applicant, for the first time, asserted that he had asked for an interpreter but 

that this had been denied by the CBSA officer on the basis that the Applicant’s English was 

sufficient. 
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[43] The Manager did not accept the Applicant’s submission that he had asked for and been 

denied an interpreter.  She preferred and accepted the evidence of the CBSA officer and, based on 

that evidence, concluded that language was not a contributing factor in the Applicant’s failure to 

report the importation of the seized currency.  She also accepted as fact that the Applicant had a 

good command of the English language and had no difficulty listening to, understanding and 

answering questions in English as stated in the Narrative Report. 

 

[44] As discussed above, the Manager is entitled to considerable deference from a reviewing 

court on factual findings (Khosa, above at paragraph 46).  I see no reason to disturb her implicit 

finding that there was no request for an interpreter as it is transparent, justifiable and intelligible and 

is not outside the range of reasonable outcomes based on the evidence on the record before her. 

 

[45] Since he has not successfully impugned that factual finding, the Applicant has no basis to 

argue that there was a breach of procedural fairness amounting to a reviewable error. 

 

Did the Minister’s delegate err in keeping the funds as forfeit? 

[46] In Sellathurai, above, funds were seized and forfeited because Mr. Sellathurai failed to 

declare them to a customs officer as he was required to do by section 12 of the Act.  It was 

conceded that, at the time of the seizure, there were reasonable grounds to suspect that the funds 

were proceeds of crime or were to be used in the funding of terrorism.  The issue before the Federal 

Court of Appeal was whether the Minister properly exercised his discretion in refusing to return the 

funds to Mr. Sellathurai. 



Page: 

 

17 

 

[47] There the Court of Appeal described what is at issue in a judicial review of a section 29 

decision of the Minister: 

[49] Where the Minister repeatedly asks for proof that the seized 

currency has a legitimate source, as he did in this case, it is a fair 
conclusion that he made his decision on the basis of the applicant's 

evidence on that issue. The underlying logic is unassailable. If the 
currency can be shown to have a legitimate source, then it cannot be 
proceeds of crime. 

 
[50] If, on the other hand, the Minister is not satisfied that the 

seized currency comes from a legitimate source, it does not mean 
that the funds are proceeds of crime. It simply means that the 
Minister has not been satisfied that they are not proceeds of crime. 

The distinction is important because it goes directly to the nature of 
the decision which the Minister is asked to make under section 29 

which, as noted earlier in these reasons, is an application for relief 
from forfeiture. The issue is not whether the Minister can show 
reasonable grounds to suspect that the seized funds are proceeds of 

crime. The only issue is whether the applicant can persuade the 
Minister to exercise his discretion to grant relief from forfeiture by 

satisfying him that the seized funds are not proceeds of crime. 
Without precluding the possibility that the Minister can be satisfied 
on this issue in other ways, the obvious approach is to show that the 

funds come from a legitimate source. That is what the Minister 
requested in this case, and when Mr. Sellathurai was unable to satisfy 

him on the issue, the Minister was entitled to decline to exercise his 
discretion to grant relief from forfeiture. 

 

[48] The Court of Appeal also held that there is no standard of proof in section 29 decisions 

separate from the standard of review of reasonableness: 

[51] This leads to the question which was argued at length before 
us. What standard of proof must the applicant meet in order to satisfy 

the Minister that the seized funds are not proceeds of crime? In my 
view, this question is resolved by the issue of standard of review. The 
Minister's decision under section 29 is reviewable on a standard of 

reasonableness. It follows that if the Minister's conclusion as to the 
legitimacy of the source of the funds is reasonable, having regard to 

the evidence in the record before him, then his decision is not 
reviewable. Similarly, if the Minister's conclusion is unreasonable, 
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then the decision is reviewable and the Court should intervene. It is 
neither necessary nor useful to attempt to define in advance the 

nature and kind of proof which the applicant must put before the 
Minister. 

 

[49] In this case, the Minister followed the approach described in Sellathurai, above, by 

repeatedly asking for documentary proof of a legitimate source of the seized funds.  Therefore, here 

the question is whether it was reasonable for the Minister to conclude, based on the evidence before 

him, that he was not satisfied as to the legitimate source of the funds. 

 

[50] While in Sellathurai, above, the only evidence tendered was unverifiable affidavits, in my 

view in this case it was also reasonable for the Minister to conclude that the documents submitted 

by the Applicant were insufficient to establish the legitimacy of the funds. The only funds for which 

a direct and potentially legitimate source was identified were those realized from the sale of the 

pizza shop.  However, there is no certainty that the twenty EUR500 bills seized were, in fact, the 

proceeds of the sale of that enterprise.  That is, there is no linkage of that cash to that transaction.  

Further, in the absence of other financial documents showing the Applicant’s spending in the 

intervening two years, it was reasonable for the Minister to decline to assume the entire EUR10,000 

was preserved intact as urged by the Applicant. 

 

[51] The Minister also asked repeatedly for documentation linking the EUR2000 that the 

Applicant withdrew from his bank account to a legitimate source.  The bank withdrawal does not 

indicate the initial source of the EUR2000, that is, whether it was from the 2008 revenue from the 

pizza shop or otherwise.  This is something that records from the same bank would presumably 

have disclosed and which could have been provided by the Applicant.  The Applicant also declined 
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to produce any records that might have shown that the earnings from his business have sustained 

him since 2008 and were the legitimate source of the EUR2000 that he withdrew from his personal 

account. 

 

[52] As to the income tax records, these show that the business earned money, but do not show 

how the seized money is connected to those earnings.  In short, the Applicant failed to establish a 

link between the seized funds and a legitimate source of same. 

 

[53] I am also unable to accept the Applicant’s argument that the Minister asked for the 

impossible and, therefore, that the Decision is unreasonable.  The onus is on the Applicant to 

persuade the Minister to exercise his discretion to grant relief from forfeiture by satisfying him that 

the seized funds are not the proceeds of crime.  The Respondent argued that the Minister sought the 

impossible as, in the case of the cash sale, little short of an uninterrupted, documented serial number 

trail of the EUR500 bills from the time they were received as payment for the pizza shop to the time 

of the seizure would suffice to link the cash to a legitimate source.  At first glance, this argument 

appears to have some merit.  However, when viewed in the context of the very nominal 

documentation that the Applicant was prepared to provide in response to the Minister’s repeated 

requests, as compared to the records that would normally and therefore reasonably be assumed to 

exist with respect to business and personal financial transactions, and considering the objects of the 

Act as described in section 3 (see also Lau, above at paragraph 35), I do not think the Minister’s 

request was unreasonable. 
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[54] Because the Applicant did not provide sufficient evidence to satisfy the Minister that the 

seized funds are not the proceeds of crime, the Minister reasonably declined to exercise his 

discretion to grant relief from forfeiture under section 29.  The Decision is not reviewable. 

 

[55] The Applicant also argues that the Decision is undermined by “innuendo” linking the 

Applicant to the Tamil Tigers and that the Minister’s observations and conclusions in that regard are 

unreasonable.  Some of the comments in the record relating the applicant’s Tamil ethnicity, viewed 

in isolation, do give me pause.  For example, to find it suspicious that the Applicant fled Sri Lanka 

at the same time as members of the Tamil Tigers is questionable given that the Applicant was a 

child at the time and there was a civil war in that country that caused many to flee. Similarly, to 

suspect the Applicant of illegal activity on the basis that he was visiting a Scarborough 

neighbourhood “known to be sympathetic to the Tamil Tigers” could be viewed as stereotyping.  It 

also seems reasonable to expect any person being questioned in an airport in relation to terrorism to 

react in a nervous fashion. 

 

[56] Here, however, these matters are not relevant because only the Minister’s decision made 

pursuant to section 29 is at issue.  There is no really question that the Applicant failed to declare the 

importation of funds exceeding CAN$10,000.  But, because the funds were then seized as forfeit 

pursuant to subsection 18(1) and were not returned because the CBSA officer had reasonable 

grounds to suspect that the currency was the proceeds of crime pursuant to subsection 18(2), the 

only way for the Applicant to challenge the section 18 seizure was to make a section 25 request for 

a decision of the Minister as to whether subsection 12(1) was contravened.  If the Minister decided 

that it was, which he did, then pursuant to subsection 29(1) he may exercise his discretion to provide 
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relief from forfeiture (see Sidhu v Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 

2010 FC 911). 

 

[57] As stated in Sellathurai, above: 

[34] The Minister is only called upon to exercise his discretion 

under section 29 where he concludes, pursuant to a request made 
under section 25, that there has in fact been a breach of section 12. 
Consequently, the starting point for the exercise of the Minister's 

discretion is that the forfeited currency, which is now in the hands of 
the Minister of Public Works pursuant to section 22, is, for all legal 

purposes, property of the Crown: see Canada v. Central Railway 
Signal Co., [1933] S.C.R. 555 at p. 557-558, where the following 
appears: 

 
[…] 

 
[…] 
 

[36] It seems to me to follow from this that the effect of the 
customs officer's conclusion that he or she had reasonable grounds to 

suspect that the seized currency was proceeds of crime is spent once 
the breach of section 12 is confirmed by the Minister. The forfeiture 
is complete and the currency is property of the Crown. The only 

question remaining for determination under section 29 is whether the 
Minister will exercise his discretion to grant relief from forfeiture, 

either by returning the funds themselves or by returning the statutory 
penalty paid to secure the release of the funds. 
 

(Emphasis added) 

 

[58] Thus, those factors are not relevant.  They did not play a role in the determination of the 

legitimacy of the funds under section 29.  In the Decision, the reference to the Tamil Tigers is made 

only as a part of the rationale for the initial seizure.  The portion of the Decision dealing with 

section 29 is concerned with the documentary evidence provided by the Applicant in an effort to 

establish the legitimate origins of the seized currency, as described above.  In any event, in its 
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submissions the Respondent stated that there was no association inferred between the Applicant 

himself and the Tamil Tigers. 

 

[59] As the question of the partial return of the funds was not before the Minister it cannot be 

considered for the first time on judicial review. 

 

[60] The Minister’s Decision was transparent, justifiable, intelligible and within the range of 

acceptable outcomes.  The application should therefore be dismissed. 
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JUDGMENT 

 

THIS COURT’S JUDGMENT is that this application for judicial review is dismissed.  

No question of general importance for certification has been proposed and none arises. 

 

 

“Cecily Y. Strickland” 

Judge 
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ANNEX “A” 

 

Relevant Statutory Provisions 

Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act  (SC 2000, c 17) 

3. The object of this Act is 
 

 
(a) to implement specific 
measures to detect and deter 

money laundering and the 
financing of terrorist 

activities and to facilitate 
the investigation and 
prosecution of money 

laundering offences and 
terrorist activity financing 

offences, including 
 
 

 
 

(i) establishing record 
keeping and client 
identification 

requirements for 
financial services 

providers and other 
persons or entities that 
engage in businesses, 

professions or activities 
that are susceptible to 

being used for money 
laundering or the 
financing of terrorist 

activities, 
 

 
 
 

 
(ii) requiring the 

reporting of suspicious 
financial transactions 

3. La présente loi a pour 
objet : 

 
a) de mettre en oeuvre des 
mesures visant à détecter et 

décourager le recyclage des 
produits de la criminalité et 

le financement des activités 
terroristes et à faciliter les 
enquêtes et les poursuites 

relatives aux infractions de 
recyclage des produits de la 

criminalité et aux 
infractions de financement 
des activités terroristes, 

notamment : 
 

(i) imposer des 
obligations de tenue de 
documents et 

d’identification des 
clients aux fournisseurs 

de services financiers et 
autres personnes ou 
entités qui se livrent à 

l’exploitation d’une 
entreprise ou à 

l’exercice d’une 
profession ou d’activités 
susceptibles d’être 

utilisées pour le 
recyclage des produits 

de la criminalité ou pour 
le financement des 
activités terroristes, 

 
(ii) établir un régime de 

déclaration obligatoire 
des opérations 
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and of cross-border 
movements of currency 

and monetary 
instruments, and 

 
(iii) establishing an 
agency that is 

responsible for dealing 
with reported and other 

information; 
 
 

 
 

(b) to respond to the threat 
posed by organized crime 
by providing law 

enforcement officials with 
the information they need to 

deprive criminals of the 
proceeds of their criminal 
activities, while ensuring 

that appropriate safeguards 
are put in place to protect 

the privacy of persons with 
respect to personal 
information about 

themselves; and 
 

(c) to assist in fulfilling 
Canada’s international 
commitments to participate 

in the fight against 
transnational crime, 

particularly money 
laundering, and the fight 
against terrorist activity. 

 
 

[…] 
 
Currency and monetary 

instruments 
 

12. (1) Every person or 
entity referred to in 

financières douteuses et 
des mouvements 

transfrontaliers 
d’espèces et d’effets, 

 
(iii) constituer un 
organisme chargé de 

l’examen de 
renseignements, 

notamment ceux portés 
à son attention en 
application du sous-

alinéa (ii); 
 

b) de combattre le crime 
organisé en fournissant aux 
responsables de 

l’application de la loi les 
renseignements leur 

permettant de priver les 
criminels du produit de 
leurs activités illicites, tout 

en assurant la mise en place 
des garanties nécessaires à 

la protection de la vie privée 
des personnes à l’égard des 
renseignements personnels 

les concernant; 
 

c) d’aider le Canada à 
remplir ses engagements 
internationaux dans la lutte 

contre le crime 
transnational, 

particulièrement le 
recyclage des produits de la 
criminalité, et la lutte contre 

les activités terroristes. 
 

[…] 
 
Déclaration 

 
 

12. (1) Les personnes ou 
entités visées au paragraphe 
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subsection (3) shall report 
to an officer, in accordance 

with the regulations, the 
importation or exportation 

of currency or monetary 
instruments of a value equal 
to or greater than the 

prescribed amount. 
 

[…] 
 
Who must report 

 
(3) Currency or monetary 

instruments shall be 
reported under subsection 
(1) 

 
(a) in the case of currency 

or monetary instruments in 
the actual possession of a 
person arriving in or 

departing from Canada, or 
that form part of their 

baggage if they and their 
baggage are being carried 
on board the same 

conveyance, by that person 
or, in prescribed 

circumstances, by the 
person in charge of the 
conveyance; 

 
(b) in the case of currency 

or monetary instruments 
imported into Canada by 
courier or as mail, by the 

exporter of the currency or 
monetary instruments or, on 

receiving notice under 
subsection 14(2), by the 
importer; 

 
(c) in the case of currency 

or monetary instruments 
exported from Canada by 

(3) sont tenues de déclarer à 
l'agent, conformément aux 

règlements, l'importation ou 
l'exportation des espèces ou 

effets d'une valeur égale ou 
supérieure au montant 
réglementaire. 

 
 

[…] 
 
Déclarant 

 
(3) Le déclarant est, selon le 

cas : 
 
 

 
a) la personne ayant en sa 

possession effective ou 
parmi ses bagages les 
espèces ou effets se 

trouvant à bord du moyen 
de transport par lequel elle 

arrive au Canada ou quitte 
le pays ou la personne qui, 
dans les circonstances 

réglementaires, est 
responsable du moyen de 

transport; 
 
 

 
b) s’agissant d’espèces ou 

d’effets importés par 
messager ou par courrier, 
l’exportateur étranger ou, 

sur notification aux termes 
du paragraphe 14(2), 

l’importateur; 
 
 

 
c) l’exportateur des espèces 

ou effets exportés par 
messager ou par courrier; 
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courier or as mail, by the 
exporter of the currency or 

monetary instruments; 
 

(d) in the case of currency 
or monetary instruments, 
other than those referred to 

in paragraph (a) or imported 
or exported as mail, that are 

on board a conveyance 
arriving in or departing 
from Canada, by the person 

in charge of the 
conveyance; and 

 
(e) in any other case, by the 
person on whose behalf the 

currency or monetary 
instruments are imported or 

exported. 
 
[…] 

 
Seizure and forfeiture 

 
18. (1) If an officer believes 
on reasonable grounds that 

subsection 12(1) has been 
contravened, the officer 

may seize as forfeit the 
currency or monetary 
instruments. 

 
 

Return of seized currency or 
monetary instruments 
 

(2) The officer shall, on 
payment of a penalty in the 

prescribed amount, return 
the seized currency or 
monetary instruments to the 

individual from whom they 
were seized or to the lawful 

owner unless the officer has 
reasonable grounds to 

 
 

 
 

d) le responsable du moyen 
de transport arrivé au 
Canada ou qui a quitté le 

pays et à bord duquel se 
trouvent des espèces ou 

effets autres que ceux visés 
à l’alinéa a) ou importés ou 
exportés par courrier; 

 
 

 
e) dans les autres cas, la 
personne pour le compte de 

laquelle les espèces ou 
effets sont importés ou 

exportés. 
 
[…] 

 
Saisie et confiscation 

 
18. (1) S’il a des motifs 
raisonnables de croire qu’il 

y a eu contravention au 
paragraphe 12(1), l’agent 

peut saisir à titre de 
confiscation les espèces ou 
effets. 

 
 

Mainlevée 
 
 

(2) Sur réception du 
paiement de la pénalité 

réglementaire, l'agent 
restitue au saisi ou au 
propriétaire légitime les 

espèces ou effets saisis sauf 
s'il soupçonne, pour des 

motifs raisonnables, qu'il 
s'agit de produits de la 
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suspect that the currency or 
monetary instruments are 

proceeds of crime within 
the meaning of subsection 

462.3(1) of the Criminal 
Code or funds for use in the 
financing of terrorist 

activities. 
 

[…] 
 
Request for Minister’s 

decision 
 

25. A person from whom 
currency or monetary 
instruments were seized 

under section 18, or the 
lawful owner of the 

currency or monetary 
instruments, may within 90 
days after the date of the 

seizure request a decision of 
the Minister as to whether 

subsection 12(1) was 
contravened, by giving 
notice in writing to the 

officer who seized the 
currency or monetary 

instruments or to an officer 
at the customs office closest 
to the place where the 

seizure took place. 
 

Notice of President 
 
26. (1) If a decision of the 

Minister is requested under 
section 25, the President 

shall without delay serve on 
the person who requested it 
written notice of the 

circumstances of the seizure 
in respect of which the 

decision is requested. 
 

criminalité au sens du 
paragraphe 462.3(1) du 

Code criminel ou de fonds 
destinés au financement des 

activités terroristes. 
 
 

 
 

[…] 
 
Demande de révision 

 
 

25. La personne entre les 
mains de qui ont été saisis 
des espèces ou effets en 

vertu de l'article 18 ou leur 
propriétaire légitime peut, 

dans les quatre-vingt-dix 
jours suivant la saisie, 
demander au ministre de 

décider s'il y a eu 
contravention au 

paragraphe 12(1) en 
donnant un avis écrit à 
l'agent qui les a saisis ou à 

un agent du bureau de 
douane le plus proche du 

lieu de la saisie. 
 
 

 
 

Signification du président 
 
26. (1) Le président signifie 

sans délai par écrit à la 
personne qui a présenté la 

demande visée à l’article 25 
un avis exposant les 
circonstances de la saisie à 

l’origine de la demande. 
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Evidence 
 

(2) The person on whom a 
notice is served under 

subsection (1) may, within 
30 days after the notice is 
served, furnish any 

evidence in the matter that 
they desire to furnish. 

 
Decision of the Minister 
 

27. (1) Within 90 days after 
the expiry of the period 

referred to in subsection 
26(2), the Minister shall 
decide whether subsection 

12(1) was contravened. 
 

 
[…] 
 

If there is a contravention 
 

29. (1) If the Minister 
decides that subsection 
12(1) was contravened, the 

Minister may, subject to the 
terms and conditions that 

the Minister may determine, 
 
(a) decide that the currency 

or monetary instruments or, 
subject to subsection (2), an 

amount of money equal to 
their value on the day the 
Minister of Public Works 

and Government Services is 
informed of the decision, be 

returned, on payment of a 
penalty in the prescribed 
amount or without penalty; 

 
(b) decide that any penalty 

or portion of any penalty 
that was paid under 

Moyens de preuve 
 

(2) Le demandeur dispose 
de trente jours à compter de 

la signification de l’avis 
pour produire tous moyens 
de preuve à l’appui de ses 

prétentions. 
 

 
Décision du ministre 
 

27. (1) Dans les quatre-
vingt-dix jours qui suivent 

l’expiration du délai 
mentionné au paragraphe 
26(2), le ministre décide s’il 

y a eu contravention au 
paragraphe 12(1). 

 
[…] 
 

Cas de contravention 
 

29. (1) S’il décide qu’il y a 
eu contravention au 
paragraphe 12(1), le 

ministre peut, aux 
conditions qu’il fixe : 

 
 
a) soit restituer les espèces 

ou effets ou, sous réserve du 
paragraphe (2), la valeur de 

ceux-ci à la date où le 
ministre des Travaux 
publics et des Services 

gouvernementaux est 
informé de la décision, sur 

réception de la pénalité 
réglementaire ou sans 
pénalité; 

 
b) soit restituer tout ou 

partie de la pénalité versée 
en application du 
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subsection 18(2) be 
remitted; or 

 
(c) subject to any order 

made under section 33 or 
34, confirm that the 
currency or monetary 

instruments are forfeited to 
Her Majesty in right of 

Canada. 
 
 

The Minister of Public 
Works and Government 

Services shall give effect to 
a decision of the Minister 
under paragraph (a) or (b) 

on being informed of it. 
 

paragraphe 18(2); 
 

 
c) soit confirmer la 

confiscation des espèces ou 
effets au profit de Sa 
Majesté du chef du Canada, 

sous réserve de toute 
ordonnance rendue en 

application des articles 33 
ou 34. 
 

Le ministre des Travaux 
publics et des Services 

gouvernementaux, dès qu’il 
en est informé, prend les 
mesures nécessaires à 

l’application des alinéas a) 
ou b). 

 
 

Cross-border Currency and Monetary Instruments Reporting Regulations (SOR/2002-412) 

2. (1) For the purposes of 
reporting the importation or 
exportation of currency or 

monetary instruments of a 
certain value under 

subsection 12(1) of the Act, 
the prescribed amount is 
$10,000 

 
[…] 

2. (1) Pour l'application du 
paragraphe 12(1) de la Loi, 
les espèces ou effets dont 

l'importation ou 
l'exportation doit être 

déclarée doivent avoir une 
valeur égale ou supérieure à 
10 000 $. 

 
[…] 
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